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SIGNIFICANT PERSONS WHO APPEAR


NEW YORK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY's OFFICE

FRANK S. HOGAN – District Attorney. Entirely non-political, tough on political corruption, determined to stamp out pornography and “sexual deviancy” and to uphold decency

JOSEPH MICHAEL DONOHUE – Mass murderer hit man for “The Westies,” the west side Irish mob.

LENNY BRUCE – Nightclub performer prosecuted, convicted, and incarcerated for offensive language in his performances.

PATRICK CROWE – Traffic cop who fired his gun twice at a car after a traffic stop, killing bystander Julius Ofsei.

GEORGE WITMORE – Falsely arrested for the savage double murder in the “Career Girls” case; his false confession to the murders— which he did not commit— led to the repeal of capital punishment in New York State.

BETTY SHABAZZ – Eyewitness to the murder of her husband, Malcolm X.

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

HENRY E. PETERSEN – Career Departmental Attorney who works his way up from Deputy Chief to Chief of the Organized Crime and Racketeering Section and ultimately to Assistant Attorney General in charge of the Criminal Division at the time of the Watergate break in and cover up, which investigation he oversaw until replaced by Special Prosecutor Archibald Cox.

DAVID M. SATZ – United States Attorney for the District of New Jersey during the Administration of Lyndon Johnson, who owed his appointment to the political boss of central New Jersey, David T. Wilentz. He is replaced by Frederick B. Lacey.

FREDERICK B. LACEY – Appointed United States Attorney upon the recommendation of U.S. Senator Clifford P. Case.

SENATOR CLIFFORD P. CASE – Senior Senator of New Jersey who recruits Fred Lacey as U.S. Attorney to clean up the state.

OPERATION PIPELINE

THE COLONIAL PIPELINE COMPANY – The largest privately financed project at the time— wholly owned by the nine major oil companies— extending from Houston, Texas, to Woodbridge, New Jersey; succumbs to pressure by New Jersey labor leader Peter Weber to award construction contracts and by public officials in Woodbridge to pay $110,000 in bribes.

BEN D. LEUTY – President

KARL T. FELDMAN – Executive Vice President

GLENN GILES – Vice President

PETER WEBER – President of Local 825, Operating Engineers, with jurisdiction over all construction in New Jersey and five counties of New York State; he lines his pockets by extorting monies from construction jobs— burying much of the proceeds in the name of his “secretary,” Mitzi.

MAYOR WALTER ZIRPOLO and PRESIDENT OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF WOODBRIDGE, ROBERT JACKS – Members of Boss David T. Wilentz's county organization, took $110,000 in cash from Colonial for permits and easements for the Colonial facilities.

NEW JERSEY POLITICAL BOSSES

DAVID T. WILENTZ – Boss of Middlesex County, leader of one of New Jersey's largest law firms. As Attorney General of New Jersey, in the 1930s, prosecuted the Lindbergh kidnapping case; the father-in-law of Leon Hess, the principal of Hess Oil, he is the second most powerful boss in New Jersey. He made his law partner, Arthur Sills, Attorney General in the Administration of Governor Hughes, and, in later years, his son Robert Wilentz Chief Justice.

JOHN V. KENNY – Boss of Hudson County – which includes Jersey City, Hoboken, Bayonne and West New York— defeated and then replaced Frank Hague as Boss; the most powerful politician in New Jersey, leading a ring of corrupt public officials— including the Mayor and the President of the City Council of Jersey City that exacts 10% off every public contract given by the city and the county, and 3% of the salaries of city and municipal employees. He gifts $700,000 in bearer

bonds – purchased for cash by the Chief of Police of Hudson County— to his grandkids.

FRANK S. FARLEY – State Senator, Republican Boss of Atlantic County; Farley, originally a member of the corrupt organization of Enoch “Nucky” Johnson (of the TV show Boardwalk Empire fame), took over when Nucky went to prison for tax evasion; Farley bosses the corrupt administration of Atlantic City Mayor William T. Sommers.

THE NEW JERSEY MAFIA

ANGELO “GYP” DECARLO – Known as “Ray,” gambling, loan sharking, and entertainment— sponsor of the “Four Seasons” singing group— and a character in the Tony Award winning Broadway show, Jersey Boys. A cousin of Frank Sinatra, his extortion sentence is commuted by President Nixon.

RITCHIE “THE BOOT” BOIARDO – A mafia captain whose Livingston estate contained an incinerator used to dispose of bodies.

ANTHONY “TONY BOY” BOIARDO – Son of Ritchie, who along with DeCarlo controls the administration of Newark's Mayor, Hugh J. Addonizio.

ANTHONY “LITTLE PUSSY” RUSSO – Controls the rackets on “The Jersey Shore.”

The above were sometime models for and source material for the TV series, The Sopranos.

SAM “THE PLUMBER” DeCAVALCANTE – Boss of New Jersey's only independent family whose illegally recorded conversations by the FBI revealed the inner workings of the mob
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HUGH J. ADDONIZIO – Mayor of Newark, a former U.S. Congressman recruited for Mayor by Gyp DeCarlo and the Boiardos.

PHILLIP GORDON – Corporation counsel of the City

ANTHONY LAMORTE – Director of Public Works, a collector for Tony Boy, and Mayor Addonizio.

PAUL RIGO – Civil Engineer, who pays off on numerous city projects.

IRVING KANTOR – Dying of Lou Gehrig's disease, testifies to cashing $1,000,000 in checks to pay Boiardo.

THE ADMINISTRATION OF HUDSON COUNTY
AND JERSEY CITY

THOMAS WHELAN – Mayor, Jersey City

THOMAS FLAHERTY – City Council President

Members of Boss John V. Kenny's organization, who collected millions in graft, who had a joint bank account in Florida with $1,230,000 in cash and bearer bonds.
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How Did It Come to This?
February 1, 1971

“Give me a long enough lever, a fulcrum, and a place to stand, and I shall move the world.”
                                                                                                                                       —Archimedes

“THIS IS A great day in your life," friends and relatives said as they surrounded me the morning after the court appointed me United States Attorney for the District of New Jersey. Yet here I am, hiding in my New York apartment, smoking cigarette after cigarette, enveloped in a cloud of smoke, shaking with apprehension. Sure, I bought a house in New Jersey a couple of months ago, but I never lived in the state until then. Why am I afraid? Because I think this job is too much for me. I became an assistant district attorney in New York right out of law school, nine years ago to the very day. Now here I am at thirty-four, the chief federal prosecutor for the entire state, and I'm not even admitted to the practice of law in New Jersey. I have forty assistant U.S. Attorneys and offices in Camden, Trenton, and Newark. I have promised to clean up this most corrupt of all of the states, and to do it with these forty kids—every one younger than I am.

The organized bar opposes me. The local politicians hate me. And the Nixon Department of Justice in Washington D.C. is moving heaven and earth to get rid of me. My only supporter is an aging United States senator, and he can't stop the president from firing me. All he can do is prevent Nixon from appointing anyone else.

In a few months my “crusade” begins: I am to try the most important criminal case in the country. My adversaries, the leading criminal lawyers in the state, represent the eight men who rule Hudson County, which includes Jersey City, Hoboken, Bayonne, and West New York. These men command the longest-standing and most corrupt political organization in the United States. A “way of life” they call it. They take ten percent from each public contract made by the cities and the county itself. They take three percent from the wages of municipal workers, who must kickback to keep their jobs. From the time of Boss Frank Hague to their present leader Boss John V. Kenny, for sixty years, democratic presidents genuflected before these men and their forebears, seeking political support, including votes from graves in Hudson County. Even the Mafia bows before these men, unlike Newark where the mighty mob ruled the politicians.

If I lose this case there is no place for me to go, certainly not in New Jersey. And I cannot go back where I started, the district attorney's office in New York. I burned those bridges five years ago.

I can only go forward. I smoke my last cigarette, lean on the sink to splash water on my face, then hurry out to head back to my Newark office before I am seriously missed.

As I point my car toward New Jersey, I cannot help asking, how did it come to this?






BOOK I
FOR THE PEOPLE







Chapter One


The Complaint Bureau February– December 1962

AFTER THEY SWEAR you in as an ADA—assistant district attorney—they give you a badge a few weeks later with your name on it. It looks just like a detective shield, only it isn't. It is not official, and it entitles you to nothing. But it's good for showing friends, particularly girls.

A few months into my new job I'm riding on the subway, traveling from the courthouse to my walkup apartment in a brownstone on West 76th Street, when the train stops at 42nd Street. The doors open. I am right next to a woman standing with her bag over her arm. She is holding onto a pole near the open door. Quick as a flash, a guy jumps into the car, flips her bag open and takes her wallet out. He does it so fast she doesn't know it happened. He jumps back onto the platform.

Without thinking, I leap onto the platform just as the doors close, and follow him down the platform. The guy hustles to the stairs, which will take him up to the street.

He is chugging along. Fast walking. I keep following and looking—and praying—for a cop. This guy is on his way to the street level and I'm still following him, trying to look like I'm not. Still no cop. He hits the street, with me trailing. He takes out the lady's wallet from his pocket, goes through it, takes the cash, and I see him looking around for a trash can to dump the wallet. When he finds one there will be no evidence to corroborate that he stole anything. That is, if I ever do find such a thing as a policeman in Times Square, which has plenty of small shops selling “dirty” pictures, but no cops.

 I'm trying to figure what to do, when I see that he has spied a trash can across another street and he starts heading for it. We are now two blocks away from the scene of his underground crime and I'm about to give it all up, when I remember my badge.

I run at him, grab him by the arm, show him the badge, and—trying to look like a cop—tell him he is under arrest. I hope he doesn't notice that the badge says “Stern,” not “Detective.” I quickly put the shield away and seize the woman's wallet from his hand. Now I have him with one hand and the wallet in the other, and still no cop. I'm plenty scared, but to my surprise he is docile, like he was expecting it, or has been there many times before.

Finally I see a patrolman. I walk the guy over, hand him to the cop, and say, “Officer, this is a DC (6),” which is code for a pickpocket, and give the cop the lady's wallet. I know this because one of my principal jobs as a new ADA is trying offenses like pickpocketing, smoking in the subway, bookmaking, and romances between men in public toilets. But on this case I am the complainant, not the ADA. That is not so good for the thief. He pleads guilty in that very court.

The next day there is a brief story in the paper about the incident, which quickly makes the rounds in the Complaint Bureau where I work, and I am a celebrity for a few hours. I never hear from the victim, but I do get a letter from somebody who had been pickpocketed on a subway and wrote that she wished I had been there at that time. I also get chewed out by David S. Worgan, the executive assistant district attorney to Frank S. Hogan—the DA—who told me not to do that sort of thing again. So that is the last time I pull my badge until the day Malcolm X is assassinated—but that comes much later.

Facing Worgan is humbling. He has been a member of the office since 1938. That means he was part of the original group headed by the legendary Thomas E. Dewey, the biggest racket buster in New York history. After hitting the mob, including Lucky Luciano and the corrupt pols, Dewey was elected DA of New York County—that's Manhattan—in 1937, then governor. He then parlayed it all into two presidential nominations, the first against Franklin Delano Roosevelt in 1944, and the second against Harry S. Truman in 1948. On his way out of the DA's office to the governorship of New York in 1941, Dewey pushed Frank Hogan into his spot.

 Now, 21 years later, not only Hogan but also other Dewey men are still there.

“Let me tell you,” Worgan says, “assistant district attorneys are not vigilantes. We don't arrest people. We can and do order the police to make arrests, but we do not make them ourselves.”

“I understand,” I say. What I don't say is that I was not going to permit that bozo to commit a crime under my nose. And I'd do it again. But I just nod, which he takes for a yes.

“Good,” he says, nodding towards the door.

I get out quickly, but as I glance back I see he is grinning, so I figure it is all right. I go back to my job in the Complaint Bureau.

* * * * * * *

The Complaint Bureau is where all new ADAs start. We begin by taking complainants, often off the street. And you never know what will walk in cold from the streets of New York.

Joe Stone, the ADA in charge of the bureau, another Dewey original, greets and breaks in new assistants. You get the lecture about how you are going to hear about “swindles.”

“There's no such a crime as a swindle,” he waves his finger at me, in his office for the first time. “We prosecute larceny, we prosecute fraud,” he intones, “but when they say they have been swindled, out they go.” And he lays out how the bureau works.

Sometimes complainants have an appointment, sometimes not. Sometimes they have no place else to go. They complain about neighbors, even radio waves coming through the walls. But occasionally you get a real one, he explains.

Stone makes it clear that everyone, nuts or not, gets a courteous hearing. That means you sit, you listen, and then you try to ease them out. If you have a real problem, you call upstairs to the DA's office squad of detectives and you ask for assistance from one of those old hands who are capable of ending problems gently, but efficiently. And if you have a meritorious complaint, you get one of the detectives assigned.

Just a few weeks into the job, sitting in my office, the telephone rings.

“Stern,” I answer.

“I'm Dr. Hugh Davidson.”

“Yes, Doctor, what can I do for you?”

“I need to see you as soon as possible,” he says, in a tight voice. Like the lips are moving but the vocal cords are kind of frozen.

I can't resist asking what the trouble is. He tells me he's married to a famous opera singer at the New York City Metropolitan Opera, whom he thinks is being ripped off. At least he didn't say “swindled.” So I ask him how. “Well, there is this gentleman named Charles Kingsley,” he tells me, “who claims to be the heir to a two hundred million dollar fortune.” My ears perk up, but so does my disbelief.

This Kingsley, the husband reports, is an opera lover who has promised the good doctor and his opera star wife $105,000 each—only they each have to give him $3,200 for the gift tax first.

I can't believe this Dr. Davidson is serious. I ask him if they gave this Kingsley the money. Oh yes, says he. And by the way, he says, Kingsley did the same thing with another “opera star.”

Now I have my doubts about this Dr. Davidson. What kind of nut would believe such bullshit? And not just one, but two opera stars? He sounds like one of Joe Stone's promised crazies. What can I do? I make the appointment. I tell him to bring the two “stars” with him. I ask what their names are. “My wife's name is Nell Rankin,” he says. The other singer is Margherita Roberti. I set the appointment for later in the day. I also call the Met and ask about Rankin and Roberti—if there are any such people. The ladies are not only for real, I'm told, but while Roberti's just started with the Met, Rankin is one of their leading singers—a mezzo-soprano who usually plays the lead in Carmen . I am excited and can't wait for their arrival. I even start sprucing up the office in anticipation. These are my first celebrities. I also call the DA's office squad and ask for detectives to be assigned to sit in on the interview.

In a few hours the divas show up with Rankin's husband, and I have two of the largest detectives of the DA's office squad—Henry Cronin and Joe Feeley—not only waiting, but filling half my small office. Soon I have five people stuffed around my desk/conference table, which makes for close quarters.

We go over their story. Kingsley, apparently ensconced in the social world of the opera, met Rankin first, then Roberti through her. Pretty soon they were all hanging out together, often being driven in Kingsley's chauffeured limousine, with him pointing out various buildings that he claimed to own as they drove by them on their Manhattan jaunts. Then came the bite. Everybody gets $105,000 each. How he got to that amount is confusing—but what is clear is that everybody had to write him a check for his or her gift taxes. Rankin wrote the check, but her husband explains that he stopped payment on the way to the DA's office. By the way, he says, Kingsley just announced that he is leaving for his ranch in Brazil tomorrow.

Everyone goes quiet. The complainants are looking at me. Worse, the two senior detectives are too. What am I supposed to do now? Arrest Kingsley? What if this guy really is a multi-millionaire? I see the detectives looking back and forth at me, and then at each other, and Cronin asks Davidson to repeat the part about a ticket to Brazil. I finally get the clue and tell the detectives to go to Kingsley's hotel and invite him to my office. I figure that there is nothing to lose there: If Kingsley is for real, I'm just checking stuff out; if he isn't, I will lock him up. I tell the detectives to be sure to be polite. They nod, with their most serious faces on.

In an hour they are at Kingsley's hotel. The two giants arrest him in the lobby and drag him out to the street with him screaming and crying, his hands cuffed behind his back. By the time they get him down to the office, he has blabbered out a full confession, and I breathe a great sigh of relief.

* * * * * * *

On the days we are not catching complaints upstairs in the office, we are in court. And that is some court.

The organizational plan of the DA's office is quite clever. New ADAs catch complaints and lead investigations, if the complaint is worthy of it, using New York City detectives from the DA's office squad. The other part of the job is to try offenses in the magistrate court, where we cut our trial teeth, until ready to move up. The next step is the Indictment Bureau, then Special Sessions Bureau to try misdemeanors, and then, if we are lucky, on to try felonies in the Supreme Court Bureau. The idea is that you get better and better at trial work by doing it in volume, in progressively more serious courts. There is no formal training. You learn from your mistakes.

What are these offenses in the magistrate court? Along with smoking in the subways, pickpocketing, and men soliciting each other in public toilets—usually a cop claiming to be solicited—the vast majority of these prosecutions are for gambling, in the form of either bookmaking or numbers running.

We spend a lot of time and a lot of the public's money going after the various runners operating in the gambling syndicates. We view these offenses as serious violations, to the amusement of the cadre of defense lawyers, who are often teamed with bail bondsmen, providing a full line of services to various “illegal” gambling organizations.

The defense attorneys, typically older men who have been at it for years, kid us about how silly it is to prosecute people as criminals for providing a service that the public wants. It is wrong to use the criminal laws as expressions of false piety and insincere morality, they say, based on the made-up claim that gambling activity is harmful to society.

Most ADAs reject that argument. At least I do, at first. I buy into the idea that I am protecting society by vigorously prosecuting gamblers. Perhaps I should have remembered my Uncle Benny and his encounter with the blue laws, way back in the 1940s.

When I was a little boy, my Uncle Benny was a barber. He was in his sixties, a little guy who wore a beard and a yarmulke, because Uncle Benny was a big-time Orthodox Jew. He followed all the rules. His problem was that his faith forbade him from working on Saturday. His next problem was that the laws of New York forbade him from opening his barbershop on Sundays because in the view of the majority of the voters, it was immoral to allow stores to open on the Lord's Day, which for them was Sunday. They were so serious about it that they not only personally refrained, they made it an offense for anyone else to work in a store on Sunday. Oh, they found a reason to justify the prohibition without saying out loud that working was immoral. Instead, they said they were protecting the quiet enjoyment of their day of rest. But Uncle Benny could not support his wife and nine children working just five days a week. On top of it his shop was located directly across from the Pitt Street police stationhouse. However, he found a way to solve all his problems. He snuck into his shop on Sundays.

I loved to go there for a haircut. Not only was it free, but Uncle Benny would also give me a quarter for each haircut. The role reversal amused me, even as a kid. But what I really loved, if I was there early, would be to see my Uncle Benny sneaking into his shop, making sure all the window shades were down so that the cops would be shielded from his illegal activities of haircutting and shaving on Sunday.

It did not take me long to figure out that with all these comings and goings every Sunday, the cops across the street would have had to be deaf, dumb and blind not to know what was going on. And yet these cops—undoubtedly mostly Irish and Italian Catholics—never bothered Uncle Benny. Even as a kid, I figured out that he knew they knew, and his window shade activities were designed to make it possible for them to let a guy who wasn't hurting anyone practice his trade and keep to his faith, law or no law. It was a humane arrangement.

But as an ADA, I prosecute the violations the cops bring to me. It takes me a while to figure out that maybe it is not such a good idea to always strictly enforce all the laws; that our society relies on prosecutors to have enough common sense to know when to look away or at least to overlook. This is dangerous talk, I know, raising fear of anarchy, but I have come to learn that prosecutorial discretion enables a system to work that would otherwise be broken by its own weight. You just have to know when to do that sort of thing. And when you must not.

Gambling, we are told, is a vice harmful to society and we can stamp it out by vigorous prosecutions. Never mind that houses of worship are openly running lotteries and sponsoring gambling nights. Never mind that the newspapers publish not merely the results of the horse races at the tracks, where people can bet at will, but also the details of the pari-mutuel betting, which horse paid what, enabling bookmakers to pay off horse bets and policy banks—that is numbers organizations—to select winning lottery numbers. We even see the corruption of law enforcement by senseless prohibitions of conduct that the public wants, but is reluctant to legalize. We do not understand that because some policemen see no point to enforcing these gambling laws, they are willing to corruptly refrain from enforcing them. Unfortunately, the gates are then lowered, and the mob owns those cops.

In all fairness, novice ADAs can hardly do other than prosecute, given an office's commitment to enforcing laws against gambling, homosexuality, and, as I soon discover, “obscenity.”

* * * * * * *

On the days I'm not in the office catching complaints, I'm in one of these tiny magistrate courtrooms trying six, eight, sometimes more cases a day. Only trouble is that I am terrible at it. At least in the beginning.

The court itself runs on an assembly line basis. Cops wait in the hall for their turn. And when it comes up, the cop hands me the complaint he has previously filed as we stand in the hallway.

Bzz, bzz, bzz , he whispers in my ear, giving me the essence of the case in a few sentences. I bzz, bzz, bzz back a question or two. In five or ten minutes we are ready for trial. In these cases, there is often just one witness: a vice squad cop.

However, the proceedings themselves are not informal. Small though the quarters are, there is a real judge in a robe. I get to say, “Herbert J. Stern for the People,” which of course is short for “The People of the State of New York.” The oath the witness takes is real, and all the rules of evidence and all the constitutional rights apply. The problem is that I don't know anything about how rules and rights apply in practice. All I have is theory.

The University of Chicago Law School, from where I graduated a half dozen months before, is a great law school. Like other great ones—Harvard, Yale, Virginia, and so forth—it taught me how to think about stuff, but not how to actually do any of it. For instance, I studied the concept of wills, but never saw an actual will. The other classes were more of the same: I never saw a search warrant in Criminal Law. I never learned how to avoid leading questions on direct examination, or how to use them on cross-examination, in a class called Evidence. I took and passed the bar exam without knowing or being tested on any practical skills. Even that exam I could not have passed without going to a special bar review course.

So I went to a great law school, and I did come out of it with real analytical skills, and the bar exam undoubtedly did weed out some who needed weeding, but none of that helps me in my early appearances in court. Standing alone, I am helpless in the face of experienced adversaries. They are slaughtering me with objections. So two minutes after I say “Herbert J. Stern for the People” for the first time, “the People” are in deep trouble while I stumble around the courtroom. These miserable performances go on for several weeks.

I just cannot do anything right. I do not even know how to mark a physical exhibit into evidence. My questions are often objected to successfully.

I'm beside myself. I don't know enough to know what I am doing wrong. After a few days of this, I get an idea. I ask the judge. And I get lucky. The one I pick to ask, Judge T. Vincent Quinn, is an old-school gentleman who has been a congressman and also the district attorney for Queens County and even a high-ranking member in Washington's Justice Department. He sees a young kid getting pushed around. He's seen it before and doesn't like it.

He peers over his horned-rimmed glasses. “Try, 'did there come a time that you saw this defendant?'” he suggests. “Or” he adds, correcting himself “when, if at all, did you see the defendant?”

It goes on for about two weeks, Judge Quinn and his colleague, Judge Frances X. O'Brien, shepherding me through my first few dozen trials. If they hadn't done it, I would never have made it. My despair is over; now I am trying them like a pro, convicting everyone—which once you know your way around is not difficult, what with ring-wise cops as witnesses. That is, unless for some reason a cop doesn't want a conviction in a particular case. It's when I start beating up on the defense lawyers that they start trying to persuade me to lighten up. “Gambling cases are nonsense,” they tell me. I don't listen, of course, because now I'm out for blood. It's not just for truth, justice, and the American way. I am out to win for me.

Then I get careless. After months of complaint bureau interviews and stints in the magistrate courts, the routine is reflexive. I'm spending less time in the hall preparing the cop. Pretty soon I'm not even reading the written complaint signed by the cop, which in that court is the formal charge, like an indictment by a grand jury in the more serious felony cases. I am just doing the bzz, bzz, bzz in the hall and up on the stand goes the cop. And then a case goes down the drain because of a violation of the Fourth Amendment—the prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures—and the exclusionary rule imposed for its violation. It happens because I didn't read the court papers. I didn't see it coming.

I'm spending the day on loan upstairs in Special Sessions, handling a minor narcotics charge, possession of a small amount of heroin. Our courts are clogged with these prosecutions of small-time addicts caught with tiny amounts of heroin. In this case, there had been an earlier proceeding in which the defendant challenged the search that was made after his arrest. But he lost. The heroin has not been suppressed. It will come into evidence. Nothing to worry about. No need to read the earlier court papers on the suppression hearing. That's over. I do the bzz, bzz, bzz in the hall and put the narcotics cop on the stand. It's a one-witness case.

The cop begins with the arrest of the defendant in the street—no mention of pre-arrest events since this was all covered in the previous suppression proceedings, which another ADA handled a week earlier. After the arrest, the cop searched the defendant and found a needle, a cooker, which is a small bottle-cap used to cook up the dope, and a few grains of heroin in his pocket. That's all the cop told me in the hall. And that's all I need from him on the stand. I mark all of it for identification and then into evidence. No objection.

Before turning the witness over for cross, I ask the legal aid lawyer defending the case whether he will stipulate that the stuff in the pocket is heroin, or whether he wants me to put it in the lab report. He waives the need of the formality. “I'll stipulate,” he says, only half out of his chair.

“Anything else,” says the bored judge, who has already heard nearly a dozen cases including pleas and trials shepherded by a couple of different ADAs.

“No, Your Honor,” I say.

My adversary rises and cross-examines. “You say you approached the defendant.”

“Yes.”

“And you arrested him in the street?”

“Yes.”

“And after you arrested him, you searched him?”

“Yes.”

“And you say that in my client's pocket you found this heroin,” pointing to the exhibits on the table.

“That's right.”

“Well, tell us, Officer, how deep in the defendant's pocket the heroin was when you put your hand in his pocket?”

“I object,” I am on my feet. “This is outrageous,” I am fuming. “Counsel is just badgering and ridiculing the witness, he should . . .”

I stammer to a stop because the cop has his hand up, palm facing me. The universal stop signal. It's all right. I can handle this, he seems to be saying, as he grins at me. Then, turning a smirk on to the lawyer, he says, “It was as deep in the pocket as the pocket went.” Great, fabulous answer, I think, as I finish sitting back down.

But my adversary is not embarrassed. He goes to his file and takes out the original complaint signed by the cop. Holding it in his hand, he reads out how the cop swore that he spotted the defendant, and what the defendant was doing in some hand-to-hand transaction at the street corner, and then he reads, “As I approached the defendant he threw an object to the ground. I kept the object in continuous view until I retrieved it from the pavement and found that it contained a white powder, which I believed based on my experience to contain heroin.” It is on that basis the cop swore he arrested the defendant with probable cause, searched him and found the rest of the stuff in his pocket.

The stillness in the courtroom is deafening. Everyone knows what is coming next, including me. I begin to rise to my feet. Can I help the cop? There is nothing I can do, so I collapse back into my chair. The legal aid lawyer, whose attention has been diverted to me momentarily, turns back to face the cop in the witness chair.

“Well, Officer,” the cross-examiner bends forward and points both hands at the man in the witness chair as he delivers the blow, “which is it? Did you find the narcotics in my client's pocket or did he throw it to the ground as you approached him?”

Everyone in the courtroom is now looking at the cop. I am as well. I'm fascinated.

The cop pauses. He has to choose his perjury. “It was in his pocket,” he says. The answer is spoken softly, with no more grins or smirks.

The defense attorney gives him a withering look, and then turns to me. “Your witness,” he smiles. And I'm on the hook. At least I have the brains to say, “No questions,” and get the cop off the stand as quick as I can.

The legal aid lawyer does not call the defendant to the stand. He offers no evidence. He simply moves for an acquittal. I am disgusted and torn, trapped between a clearly lying cop and an equally clearly guilty drug dealer. I try to find some words to resolve the issue. The defendant had the drugs, I tell the judge. Under either version of the arrest the defendant is guilty. Why let him off? The judge tosses the case, refusing to convict based on anything that cop has to say.

I'm sore at losing the case, but also sore at the defendant's walking out free. I'm livid at the cop. To me he is worse than the pickpocket that I arrested. So I go to David Worgan, the executive assistant DA, and he tells me I can report the cop if I want to. And I do want to. I call the officer in charge of the cop's command and make a formal complaint. I realize that it's probably fruitless, but I think the cop needs to be punished. I report him because I'd feel dirty if I did nothing.

That is my first experience with the dilemmas posed by the Exclusionary Rule. If you exclude the evidence, the criminal goes free, and the cop is not punished for the violation of privacy—that is, if he hasn't lied to avoid the suppression, in which case there is a conviction and he is promoted. If you allow the evidence to come in, the criminal is convicted, the policeman gets promoted, and the cops are openly incentivized to more Fourth Amendment violations. All in all, “it's a puzzlement.”







Chapter Two


The Indictment Bureau 1962– 1963

 SEVEN MONTHS INTO my service I am promoted to the Indictment Bureau. I join half a dozen of my colleagues in processing the thousands of prosecutions that bubble up from courts where the defendants have been arraigned for purposes of bail, and the appointment of counsel if they do not have lawyers.

Some of the arrests have already been reduced. These we do not see. But the ones we get, we have to evaluate. Should the case remain a felony, or be reduced to a misdemeanor? The grand jury can reduce a felony arrest to a misdemeanor, and will if we tell it to. The grand jurors do what they are told. Are there exceptions? I've never seen a grand jury refuse a prosecutor's request to indict, or to dismiss, but I guess it's possible.

I do have one close call. In addition to presenting cases where there has already been an arrest, we are assigned some grand jury investigations. Not rackets, or heavy fraud, and certainly not a political corruption investigation. These are reserved for the senior bureaus. But we do have some lesser ones. I am assigned the “baby selling” investigation.

The adoption process in New York in 1962 is complicated and anything but swift. The would-be parents face not only the problem of qualifying to the satisfaction of the authorities, but also of finding the kind of baby that they want to adopt. As in other matters where people want to side-step rules or avoid the queue, couples are willing to pay for the babies. By the same token, some unscrupulous lawyers—and doctors—are willing to provide babies from local or even foreign sources, for a fee. And the hopeful parents are more than happy to pay for the child that they have longed for.

From our office's point of view, of course, this is a highly dangerous practice, for both the child and for the new parents. There is, after all, a point to the annoying red tape in place to supervise the process so that suitable parents receive healthy children whose natural parents are also protected. It is routine for our office to maintain ongoing investigations into “baby selling rings,” and I am the ADA assigned to work on them with Detective Theresa Heath of the office squad. She brings the witnesses, mostly adoptive parents, and I present them to the grand jury where they testify against the doctor or the lawyer or both, as the case may be. These people don't want to testify, of course. They are petrified that they will lose the baby.

So I have one mother in the grand jury. It's going okay; she's giving me what I need. Then she suddenly stops testifying. She begins to shudder and shake. In a moment she's on her feet, her hands clasped in front of her in prayer, addressing the grand jurors, “Please don't take my baby,” she begs, sobbing uncontrollably. “Don't take my baby,” she is pleading over and over again. Tears are running down her cheeks, which she does not wipe because her hands remain steepled in prayer. I glance around the room and see that some of the jurors are also starting to cry. And some of them are looking daggers at me, like I'm responsible for taking her baby.

The foreman beckons me out of the jury room, into the waiting room, and says, “Mr. Stern, you're not going to take away her child, are you?” It's not said as a question. It's a command. I do not want to do anything of the kind. So I excuse myself and grab Theresa, who is at the other end of the waiting room. “No,” she tells me. “They never take the child away if the parents cooperate.” Back I go to calm everyone down. And that's as close as I ever get to having trouble with a grand jury.

In the Indictment Bureau we sift through the cases as they come in. Should they stay felonies? If so, what counts? How many counts? We present the evidence, just enough to make out a prima facie case—enough to withstand a motion to dismiss the indictment—but we do not present more than we have to. In New York the defense attorney can often obtain the grand jury testimony, and we don't want to provide pretrial previews of the case that our senior colleagues in the Supreme Court Bureau will be trying after the indictment we draw is handed up by the foreman of the grand jury. The jury votes without even seeing the written indictment. We draw it up after the vote, and present it to the court when we are ready.

It's not the most exciting work in the office, presenting evidence with no adversary present, and drafting indictments that conform to the legal requirements, often using language that went out of style a couple of hundred years earlier.

Although I am alone in the grand jury room with the jurors and the witness—one witness at a time because only the witness, the DA, the stenographer and the jurors can be present—I treat every presentation as though there's an adversary present, able to make objections. I do this to keep myself sharp, in training for the courtroom, because I can't wait to get out of indictments and back to the courtroom.

The bureau does have its moments. The Organized Crime Squad of the police locks up Dominick Montemarano, but they have no case. Not even probable cause. The cops tell me he is a mob killer in the Columbo family. So they bust him and they seize his car. They also tell me that the case has to be dismissed. They want the grand jury to do it so it does not happen in public in the trial court. Grand juries don't have to give reasons for dismissing cases. Prosecutors do. For the DA, the grand jury can be a shield as well as a sword. I tell the grand jurors what to do and, of course, they do it. Montemarano is “no billed,” which is grand jury jargon for “case dismissed.” The cops also tell me that Montemarano will be coming around my office to ask me for a slip so he can get his car released from the police property clerk. They tell me to send him over to see them. This I am not crazy about.

Next day, Montemarano shows up in my little office in the Indictment Bureau, and he and I are alone together. I don't like it, but am reluctant to call for help. He wants the form to get his car. I tell him what I've been told to tell him. Go see the arresting officers first. He does not like that, and his face gets red.

“Are you the guy who presented my case to the jury?” he leans forward with both fists on my desk.

“Yes, yes,” I stammer.

“No wonder they threw my case out!” he snarls and slams the door shut on the way out.

A few weeks later I get promoted.





Chapter Three

The Criminal Court Bureau 1963



 THIS SECOND PROMOTION gets me out of the grand jury routine and into the old Special Sessions—trying cases before one judge, and sometimes three judges. Only it's not called Special Sessions anymore. As I arrive, it becomes the Criminal Court of the City of New York, so I am in the Criminal Court Bureau.

We get all the misdemeanor cases. It's a very busy place, busier than the magistrate court. All kinds of cases are arraigned and set for trial. But they are usually adjourned; because someone is not ready; because the cop is not there; or because a private counsel says he is missing a witness named “Mr. Green.” That's code that the lawyer has not been paid yet. The judges will almost always grant the adjournment because they know that the defense lawyer must collect his fee before trial, or he never will. Ultimately, if there is no disposition, which is the court jargon for a plea bargain, the case will be tried. There are lots of dispositions. There have to be. It is simply impossible to try all of the cases.

Many of them are drug cases, of course. We are the district attorney's office for New York County—that means just Manhattan. There's something special about Manhattan. It's varied. It has Harlem and Wall Street. There are plenty of robberies, drugs, homicides, and sophisticated financial crimes. It also has 42nd Street with the porn shops I found myself in front of when I nabbed the pickpocket. And those cases, “obscenity” cases, go to the Criminal Court Bureau, along with small narcotics cases and minor versions of the other kinds of crimes, small larcenies, minor assaults, that kind of thing. Not homicides, of course. There are no minor homicides.

The ADAs in the Criminal Court Bureau are assigned to “trial parts.” A trial part is a courtroom with an assigned judge. Some parts have just one judge. Some are three-judge courts, available if a defendant requests one. These courts are more formal than the old magistrate court, but not much more. Their crowded dockets preclude formality and often even dignity. But I do get more serious cases to try, and that means getting closer to the Supreme Court Trial Bureau, which is where most of the up-and-coming ADAs want to wind up trying cases before juries. In the meantime, I am perfecting my trade.

I have one distraction: My bureau chief, Richard H. Kuh, has assigned me to be in charge of all the pornography prosecutions in the office, and that means not only all the prosecutions, but also all the investigations of pornography. I am still trying the normal stuff; it is just that I have this sideline. It's important because DA Hogan, a devout Catholic and a pal of Francis Joseph Cardinal Spellman, the Archbishop of New York, is personally committed to stamping out smut. Hogan has deputized Kuh, who wears the extra hat of administrative assistant DA, and Kuh has assigned me.

When I come up from trying cases, I can hardly get into my office; it's now crammed full of photographs and movie films, the bulk having been seized in raids of Times Square bookstores. Some of the seizures lead to prosecutions. When they do, the most important cases are assigned to the chief judge of the court, John M. Murtagh. He's another devout Catholic. Between him and Hogan, with Kuh as their lord high executioner, and now me as the assistant executioner, we are all doing the work of the Lord. We are going to stamp out smut in Manhattan.

Censors know that they can't get away with imposing what appears to be nothing more than their own morals and ideology on everyone else. It doesn't look good. They have to find some harm, or at least potential harm, in exposure to “dirty” pictures and films to justify their prohibition. So the claim is made that pornography fosters rape, or sexual deviancy. It is nonsense, of course, nothing more than a cover for some people imposing a personal code of conduct on others. Just another form of the blue laws.

What particularly amuses me are my own colleagues. My little office has become a popular spot. Lots of ADAs dropping by, undoubtedly to help stamp out the impurities that are housed there. But before they can stomp, they have to take a look. After all, you cannot fight what you cannot see.

All in all, it is a shoddy business, and I would feel better if I refused to be part of the morals police. But for the few months I have the assignment of enforcing the law against obscenity, I do it in the same spirit of competition as I had earlier with the laws against gambling. I do understand that I am not really protecting society from actual harm. But it's the job. So I do it. Full throttle. And then one day I come face to face with “enough is enough.”

When I return from court, two United States postal inspectors are waiting for me in Kuh's office. Now that's a rare event, because we local types don't have much contact with the feds, not even the FBI. The federals have their jurisdiction, led by the United States Attorney for the Southern District of New York, Robert M. Morgenthau; and we have the New York City detectives. As a matter of fact, we and the feds compete. There's no enmity, we are not hitting each other, but there's no love lost either. Nonetheless, two feds are in Kuh's office when I get there.

Kuh tells me the inspectors have just filed a complaint, and he hands it to me. It is several pages long, and very detailed. They have just charged a defendant with obscenity, but not by use of the mails under the federal statute, although that is how they caught him. Instead, they charge him under the New York State obscenity law.

I am reading how this guy is sending letters around trying to arrange for orgies and wife swapping, using his own wife. After intercepting the mail, the postal inspectors got a federal warrant and raided the guy's house, then seized pictures and slides of his wife, naked, performing things, using implements. It's all laid out descriptively in the complaint, although the pictures themselves are not attached.

I am puzzled. I ask myself, why are they here rather than at the Southern District with United States Attorney Morgenthau? The answer is that Morgenthau won't prosecute. The defendant is a famous composer and conductor. The postal inspectors want him prosecuted for his use of the mail to arrange sex parties and transmit dirty pictures, but the United States Attorney refuses. The post office sleuths can't do anything about that, so they go to see Hogan. He is enthusiastic about an obscenity charge under state law. Kuh tells me that we, namely I, are the ones who are going to do it. Before they leave Kuh's office, the inspectors hand over the letters and the pictures and the slides, and finish giving me details, including the name of the defendant's lawyer.

He has a great lawyer, Ephraim London. London has had numerous First Amendment cases before the United States Supreme Court, and won them all. But I know that he can't win this one. The stuff is too raw. The solicitations are too funky. The pictures are very literal, and they show the defendant's own wife performing. If this goes to trial, I am sure that Murtagh will grab it. Even worse, I don't see how the defendant can allow this stuff with his wife to go into an open courtroom. No one can save him from a conviction, I conclude, but maybe I can save his wife and his career. It all depends on what London wants to do, and whether I can implement my plan. But first I have to get London to agree.

We meet at my office, he and I and a younger lawyer about my age, Martin Garbus, who works for London. London is an imposing figure, well over six feet tall, balding, distinguished looking. It's clear that he is the First Amendment intellectual and Garbus is the trial lawyer. From London's point of view, the First Amendment has been violated. He makes a big deal about the fact that the feds wouldn't prosecute, but I tell him that our office will, and Garbus knows that we will, knows that I cannot dismiss the case, given the priorities of the DA. But I tell them that I do want to help prevent their client's destruction over something that should be irrelevant to his music.

What I can do, I tell them, is to arrange for a quiet plea. We could go into a courtroom right at the very end of the day, when no one is there. I tell them that I would prepare the judge, and have the judge agree to waive a pre-sentence report and sentence right then and there. If it all goes well, and I tell them that I'm pretty sure it will, when it's over I will destroy the photos and all the rest, because the case will be closed and the State has no need of the evidence.

They agree. They really have no choice. But they want me to give them back the photos at the end of the case. This, I cannot do. “The Boss,” which is what we call Hogan, would have a fit if that stuff were back out there. They know I'm telling them the truth, so it's a deal. The material will be destroyed, and it will be over. It's the best I can do. As it is, I'm sticking my neck out. If Hogan gets wind of it, I figure I am toast.

I pick the judge carefully; it has to be one with both courage and heart. I know most of them pretty well by now, so that is not a problem. It takes a few days, and it is done. I get it set for the next week and tell London. He says okay.

Then the world caves in. The case is discovered by the press. New York reporters routinely go through the newly filed complaints, looking for stories. Paul Hoffman, the New York Post reporter covering the criminal courts, finds the filed complaint. His next stop is my office. He wants background.

Hoffman is a stranger to me. But he has what he needs from the detailed complaint. He even knows what the defendant does for a living. He probably got that from the postal guys. Of course he might have known anyway. He could have recognized the man's name. But I think he was tipped by the feds, who want to crush the musician. In any event, the whole thing is about to unravel.

I decide to take another chance. I tell him about the deal, and the effort to keep the man in his music, and I sense from Hoffman's reaction that he is sympathetic. So I gulp and pop the question. Will he agree not to print the story? That is usually a big no-no, but I ask anyway. To my surprise, he says, “Yes.”

Just when I think I have everything under control, a New York Times reporter drops by. He, too, has read the complaint, been tipped, or both, but the point is he knows, and I'm back at square one. I don't even know what I'm doing anymore. I am acting more like the defense than the prosecution. Well, in for a penny, in for a pound. I try the same speech on the Times ' guy. He says okay, too, but he has a price. He knows my office is packed with porn and he says he will accommodate me but he wants to take some stuff home. He doesn't mean this guy's pictures; he just wants to push a shopping cart through my supermarket.

I am so close to bringing this off that I can't bear to see the plan founder on the rocks of a New York Times exposé. I know I am not going to give this guy a basket of goodies. I say nothing, just kind of smile. He thinks we have a deal and goes off happy. There is no story. And pretty soon it's the next week, and Ephraim London and his client show up at the courthouse to take the plea. Unfortunately, he comes without Garbus.

It is the end of the day. The courtroom is totally empty. The judge is ready. I look at the defendant with some curiosity. This is the first I have seen the man. He looks perfectly normal, although I think he must be nuts to have such a hobby. I shrug it off and tell London and his client to go with me right up close to the bench, and I go through the routine of taking a plea. The judge is going along with the program, and there is no hitch until we get to the part where the defendant is to enter a plea in one word, “guilty.” Instead, London launches into an oration about the First Amendment and freedom of speech. He is real good at it. He must have made it or something like it many times. But the more he speaks about his client's right to do what he did, the more he is undermining the plea of guilty. I'm getting mad. Worse, the judge who agreed to do the deed is now obviously annoyed. He starts shaking his head in a “no” movement. But London doesn't seem to care. He keeps on going until the judge has had enough and stops him cold, “I don't think I can take this plea.” And he can't, not when the defendant's lawyer is proclaiming his client's innocence while purporting to plead him guilty.

As for me, I'm furious. I ask for a brief recess, and the judge grants it. I leave London's client alone with the judge standing right up at the bench. “Stay right here,” I tell him. I take London by the arm and lead him out into the empty hall. There, I lose it and scream at him, “You son of a bitch, I've been breaking my back and sticking out my neck to give your client a chance to have a life, me, the prosecutor, and you the defense attorney come in here and screw it up! Now go back in there and shut up before we lose this judge forever.”

Large man that he is, he physically recoils. I'm sure no twenty-six-year-old freshman ever talked to him like that. Back we go. The defendant and the judge are where we left them. We start taking the plea all over again. London stays shut up. The judge concludes the plea and immediately imposes an “SS,” a suspended sentence. The defendant walks out of the court and back to his life and his music, and that is that. We don't say a word to each other. He has no idea what went into all that just happened. I'm sure that from his point of view he thinks that his lawyer did a great job. And he did, if I say so myself.

The New York Times guy does come around a few days later. “Let's take a look around,” he says pointing to the cartons piled up against my wall.

“Go take a walk on Forty-Second Street and look around there,” I say.

“You gave your word!” he shouts.

“So sue me.”





Chapter Four


“Why Did You Prosecute Him?” 1963

 TOO BAD ALL the days can't be that good. I am manning my trial part, handling case after case. Because I am nearing the end of my time in the bureau and am quite senior, I am assigned to a three judge trial part. The bench is Ben Gassman, Lester Shalleck, and the presiding judge sitting in the middle is Vincent Impellitteri, former mayor of the City of New York, known far and wide as Impy when he occupied city hall. After he lost his reelection bid to Robert F. Wagner, Jr., in 1954, Wagner appointed Impy to the bench.

There are judges who convict everybody and some who convict nobody. Given who is available, these three are regarded as a very good bench. Gassman is the very best of the bunch. Shalleck is relatively new, and Impellitteri has the standing of having been mayor, although I do note that while he treats private counsel with great consideration, he is very tough on legal aid lawyers and their defendants.

My last case of the day is a two-count misdemeanor complaint, charging petit larceny and simple assault. Each offense carries a maximum sentence of one year in prison. I see that the charges have been reduced from the original felony charge of robbery, punishable by ten years. The two misdemeanors are the junior components of the felony. This is not unusual. The office tries to keep the felony parts in the Supreme Court free for the serious cases, and I see the defendant is charged with taking “the approximate amount of five dollars” from the victim. Right, I think. The case belongs here, not in the Supreme Court.

The defendant could not make bail. He has been in custody for several weeks. He has refused any plea bargain. There will be three judges because his lawyer, Bob Ferraro, who heads the legal aid section for criminal court, has requested a three-judge panel. Bob is a pro, experienced in evaluating the worth of cases and reasonable in negotiating with our office. He and I have a solid working relationship.

The arresting officer is there with his complainant, the man who was robbed. While the judges are hearing cases scheduled before ours, I take the cop and the victim into the hall to prepare them for the trial. But when we get outside, the cop pulls me aside, away from the victim. I follow him down the hall. When we are out of earshot, the cop says to me, “I don't think he did it.” Just like that. What does that mean—I want to know. And the cop explains that the complainant says he was attacked and robbed by two men at 2:30 a.m. at a street corner. They hit him and took his money, which were four one-dollar bills and some loose change. According to the victim, he found this officer within ten minutes of the assault. Cop and victim began to comb the area looking for the two men. They found them, or so the complainant said, as he pointed them out to the officer. So the cop arrested them both. When he searched them, their money totaled two one-dollar bills and a little change. That didn't match the amount the victim said had been taken from him moments earlier. The cop was not happy and asked the victim if he was really sure that these were the men. He said he was, so the cop arrested the two of them.

A few hours later the four of them were at the arraignment. As they waited, the victim approached the cop and told him that he was no longer sure of the identification of one of the men. So the officer passed the information along to the ADA at the arraignment, and the ADA cut that defendant loose.

“So what,” I say to the cop. “The victim was honest, what more can you ask?” But the cop says there is more. He has been waiting around all day with the complainant, waiting for their turn in the trial part, when this afternoon the complainant tells him that because he was drunk the night he was attacked, he is not sure that the remaining guy was one of the two.

I see the cop is worried. I am sure this uniformed officer is on the up-and-up. The defendant has no money. He can't make bail. He is represented by legal aid. There can be no question; the cop simply does not want an innocent man convicted. I tell him I will check it out.

I go over to the complainant. I ask him if he told the officer earlier in the day that he was no longer sure of the identification of the defendant. He denies saying that to the cop. I ask him if he was drunk the night he was robbed. He denies that. I ask him if he told the cop that he had been drunk. He denies that, too.

I walk back into the courtroom to wait our turn. The other case is still going on, but winding down. While we wait, I go over to Bob Ferraro, who is going through a file on his lap. I put my hand on his shoulder and when he looks up I tell him not to worry about this one, I will take care of it. He nods, and pulls out the next file.

The case is called, and I put the complainant on the stand. We go over his story. I am careful to bring out his claim about the amount of money that was taken, and the arrest of the two men within minutes of the assault and theft of the five bucks from him. I want the judges to realize when they hear the cop's testimony that the money doesn't match. And then I ask him if it's true that he withdrew his identification of one of the men.

Impellitteri stops me. “Don't impeach your own witness,” he rules.

I can't believe my ears, but I conclude he doesn't realize I am just bringing out the truth. So I go on. I ask the witness if he has told the officer that he is no longer sure that the defendant on trial was one of the men. He barely gets the denial out when Impellitteri barks out, “I told you not to impeach your own witness.”

The practice is for the presiding judge, the one who sits in the middle, to make all the evidentiary rulings, so that is that. But I am not too concerned. The three judges obviously heard the questions and understand what I am trying to tell them. So I finish and sit down. Bob rises to cross-examine the complainant. It's a repeat of what I tried to do. Then he is done too. Then it's my turn again, and I call the cop to the stand. I elicit the events from his perspective. I am able to bring out the dismissal of the first man. I then ask the cop if the victim said that he was no longer sure about the identification of the man on trial. Impellitteri interjects again.

“Mr. Stern, I am not going to tell you again. Do not impeach your own witness.”

I try to tell him that I am just trying to bring out the facts, that in my view that is my duty, but he doesn't want to hear me. He shuts me down. So I rest. Bob rests without calling his client. And then the three judges huddle at their bench. It doesn't even take two minutes. Impellitteri announces the decision. Guilty on both counts. Gassman notes his dissent. But it's guilty two to one. So that's it. Guilty. I am totally stunned.

Impellitteri asks Ferraro if he wants to waive the presentence report and proceed directly to sentencing. Ferraro says yes. I guess he figures that having extracted this pound of flesh the judges will cut his man loose. After all, he had already served several weeks.

So the judges huddle again. Then Impellitteri announces the decision. Count I, Larceny, one-year imprisonment. Count II, Assault, one-year imprisonment. Sentences to run consecutively .

I am beside myself. I can't believe it. They just gave the man two years! I simply can't contain myself. Improper or not, I literally run up to the bench. Standing in front of Impellitteri, I commit a contempt of court. “How could you do that?” I say to him. But he doesn't hold me in contempt. Instead, with his eyes cold and unblinking looking into mine, he says, “Mr. Stern, if you did not want us to convict him, why did you prosecute him?”

I stand frozen. There is nothing I can say. So I turn around and go back to my place, while the court officer gets ready to take the defendant back to the holding pen.

“Mr. Stern, if you did not want us to convict him, why did you prosecute him? ”

I know I will never forget those words. They will be with me to the end. I had thought I did right, not wrong. I did not know if the defendant was guilty or innocent. I never will. I did not know if the witness was right or if he was wrong, or even if he was lying in his answers. I did not think my job was to judge credibility. I believed it was for the court to decide who was telling the truth and my function was just to present the testimony. I thought that once I had a prima facie case, my job was to put it in, warts and all, and let the tribunal determine the truth.

But standing before that cold man I see that I am wrong, and I will remain wrong as long as people like him sit in judgment. I have learned that the prosecutor must do more than determine if a judge or a jury could legally convict. In that moment I see that the prosecutor must do more than advocate reasonable positions. The power of his office is too vast to permit him to shift responsibility from himself to any tribunal for the outcome of what he alone has the authority to initiate.

As I watch the attendants lead the defendant away, I make a sacred promise. Never again will I turn over to a judge or even to a jury any person whom I believe should not be convicted.

That night I do not want to go home to be alone in my tiny one-bedroom walk-up on West 76th Street. I walk over to the Village and hit the White Horse, a bar on Seventh Avenue. Then I hit a few more. I don't remember how I got home.





Chapter Five

The End of the Beginning 1963 – 1964

 MY YEAR IN the Criminal Courts is up, which means I can expect the next promotion soon. This is the big one. Everyone takes the same route, Complaints to Indictments, Indictments to Criminal Courts. Then the road divides into four possible paths. The Supreme Court Bureau is where you try jury cases. Most of us want to go there. The Frauds and the Rackets Bureaus are where you investigate for years using grand juries and wiretaps, and very rarely go to court. In my opinion, only the ADAs with cop-like, not trial lawyer mentalities want to go to either. And, finally Homicide, which is between the Trial and Investigative Bureaus. There is a fifth, the Appeals Bureau, in which you just write briefs and argue appeals. In our view, only the egghead types want to go there. But they don't assign anyone to appeals who doesn't request it, so I am not worried about being shipped there.

I want Supreme Court jury trials. I know I am being selfish. I know that the unique reputation of our office springs from uncovering sophisticated criminal conduct, not the crimes that the police bring to us to take to court. Since Dewey's time it has been the rackets and fraud investigations—leading to prosecutions for political corruption, the mafia and sophisticated frauds—that made the office the envy of DAs throughout the country. But I don't care. I want to try felony jury cases in the Supreme Court. That is what I have wanted since I was ten years old.

Before he became a bureau chief in the New York State Attorney General's office, my father had been a trial lawyer. I adored him. As a little boy, I listened to his courtroom stories. I found his old trial transcripts in a closet, and I read them. I could smell the smoke of his courtroom battles.

In spite of his advice to the contrary, it's all I ever wanted to do. “Son,” he told me, “it's the hardest work there is. Harder than shoveling coal. After a day in court your shirt will be stuck to your back. You will smell.” He advised me to become a dentist.

I had no interest in anything but a courtroom. For me, academics were a waste of time. I didn't care about high school. Stuyvesant High School was either the first or second best in the city, depending on whether you went there or Bronx High School of Science. You took a test to get into either. But I was one of its worst students. Imagine courses in woodworking and mandatory gym classes. I couldn't. So I stopped going for a while. That nearly got me thrown out.

The principal called my father in for a meeting, with me present. There was no mother to call, as she had died the summer before my senior year. The meeting was not my greatest hour. The principal was clearly preparing for my departure. He asked my father to agree that my repeated cutting of school demonstrated that I was not interested in remaining at Stuyvesant. My father then made his immortal response, “That's a stupid statement.” That ended the interview, and that moment further enshrined my father as my hero. But when we got outside the building he let me have it. Not physically, just verbally. But it was enough to propel me across the finish line. Barely. I graduated 535 out of 681.

That was the culmination of the worst academic history of anyone in my family. When I first entered grade school, my mother, like all Jewish mothers, believed she had a child prodigy on her hands. So she brought me up to Hunter College Model Elementary School to be tested.

The elementary school began at kindergarten and went on to high school. It took about thirty “gifted” kids a year out of the whole city. I entered the kindergarten, but did not make it to the high school. Hunter asked me to leave after third grade. Between my performance at grade school and high school, my parents were ready to pull their hair out. “Why can't you be like your cousin Arthur?” they said to me. My cousin Arthur Greenbaum is some five years older, and perfect.

So terrific that notwithstanding these unflattering comparisons, even I liked cousin Arthur, who went on to Harvard Law School, graduated with honors, and joined a Wall Street law firm in the 1950s, when very few Jewish graduates were accepted into white-shoe establishments.

After graduating from Stuyvesant, I enrolled in Hobart and William Smith Colleges, a liberal arts college in Geneva, New York. There I finally decided to get serious, at least about academics. First, I loved the program. The college had a core curriculum. All students had to take twenty hours over four semesters in a course called HLA, which stood for history, literature and the arts. It took the student through a journey of time, beginning with the founding of Judaism in about 1800 BC, and continuing through the Greeks, Romans, Christianity, Middle Ages, Renaissance and so forth—studying each period of history in conjunction with its literature and its arts—the Old Testament and the New, even St. Thomas Aquinas and St. Augustine. I learned and studied other cultures, traditions, and faiths. It wowed me. It still does. Many of my classmates did not feel the same way. It gave me an advantage. But the biggest advantage I enjoyed over many of them was that I knew what I wanted to be—a trial lawyer.

Then it was on to law school, and an application to the Manhattan DA's office upon graduation. I figured that if I got in, I would try cases in court. It was the only DA's office in New York City that did not make political appointments, so it was the only one I could apply to. I did try the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Southern District of New York, but they turned me down flat. They said I did not have enough experience, coming right out of law school. That did not seem to stop them from taking plenty of federal judicial law clerks right out of law school. But it worked out anyway, because the DA said yes, and I would get into court earlier and more often there than with the feds.

But first it was the bar exam, then six months of active duty with the National Guard, from August 1961 to February 1962. There was no war then, but there was the draft and military training. So you had to do something. I chose six months of active duty—where I learned to be a light truck driver with close to disastrous results. I could drive the thing forward okay. I could even back it up. But then they added a trailer. When I backed up with it, there was a calamity. I was removed from transportation and made a clerk.

The first Monday after my discharge from active duty I was sworn into the DA's office, and a few days later found myself in the magistrate court getting my life's dream shattered, ready to resign not merely from the office but from trial work. Now, after a year of constant trial work in the Criminal Court Bureau, I know I am ready for the Supreme Court Bureau and the glory days of jury trials.

But I am assigned to homicide.






Chapter Six


The Homicide Bureau 1964

 I'M IN MY fourth office in two years, housed with the other ADAs in homicide. We have our own wing. We even have a holding cell as part of our suite of offices. We often need to interrogate witnesses to homicides who are in jail themselves, so the cell is useful.

The bureau is led by Alexander Herman, another Dewey man. After twenty-five years in the office, Al Herman has tried more homicides and sent more murderers to the electric chair than any other prosecutor in New York. Maybe even the country. But he doesn't try them any more. There's something wrong with his throat, I don't know what, but his voice rasps. No more court. Now he runs the bureau from behind his desk, with an ever-present cigarette between the fingers of one of his very much misshapen fists. They look like the hands of a bare-knuckle prizefighter. I ask no questions. This, I say to myself as I report to him for duty for the first time, is one tough guy.

“Homicides are different than other crimes.” With that lead-in, Herman introduces me to his bureau. Whenever a homicide occurs in New York County, and the police want to book a suspect, they first must call the ADA on homicide duty. A police car is sent for the assistant district attorney, another for a stenographer, and the two rendezvous at the police station where the subject is being held. The object is to get a statement from the accused, and to make sure there is enough evidence to arrest the person. If the ADA orders the arrest, from that moment the case is his.

Of course the detainee is not free to leave before the ADA gets there, and I have never heard of anyone trying to. Is he already under arrest? We don't think much about that, but I guess the answer is yes. Once we say to book the suspect, or whatever you want to call him, the police make a formal arrest. And if we say let him go, they do that too.

Every homicide has two lead detectives assigned. One is always from either Manhattan North or Manhattan South homicide, and the other detective is from the local precinct who is “catching,” which is jargon for on duty at that time. Once the ADA arrives, he is in charge.

If he believes the evidence is sufficient, the ADA orders the booking and then makes sure that all the witnesses are accounted for and interviewed, that the evidence is collected, and that all the leads are followed to the end. The investigation can be over in a day, or it can take weeks. When the ADA is satisfied that all the bases have been covered, he presents the case to the Homicide Bureau of the DA's office. The bureau meets every Friday. It sits in final judgment as the ADA presents his case and fields questions. He has to satisfy his colleagues that there are no loose ends. Once he does, he makes his recommendation as to what to charge. Then the bureau votes on what to recommend to a grand jury.

The vote can go from the top charge of murder in the first degree, to second degree, to manslaughter or even less, such as involuntary manslaughter. It's a majority vote. The voting was instituted because of the possibility of the death penalty for Murder One. Herman tells me that decision is too important to entrust to one assistant.

“How often are we on duty?” I inquire.

“Every five to ten days depending on the trial schedules of the other men in the bureau,” is the answer.

“Do we only get cases when the police have someone already in custody?” I inquire.

“Since you asked,” he replies through a cloud of smoke, “here's a file.” And he hands me a folder which he obviously had ready for me.

I see it is entitled “Joseph Michael Donohue.” And it's thick. I don't want to seem pushy, and I don't even know what to ask. But I don't have to wait. Herman outlines the file.

Donohue, known on the street as Crazy Joey, is a robber and a paid killer, Herman explains. “We don't know how many people he has killed for money, but we do know about five who were his friends,” and he lists them. A double murder in the Bronx, and a single homicide of a black man named Presley Wilkes in Manhattan. And then the double homicide in a Manhattan bar. There are pictures of all of the bodies. Herman comes around his desk, takes the file, and spreads the pictures of the bodies around his conference table. I have never seen anything like it.

The Castilian Room is a bar on East 75th Street. The interior in the photo is deserted, except for two bodies, a man named Robert Hannigan, who owned the bar, and the hatcheck girl, who was Donohue's girlfriend. She is spread-eagled on her back, arms outstretched on the floor of the bar. Hannigan is found shot in the head, crumpled against a wall under a public telephone affixed to the wall. He died with a dime in his hand, obviously in the process of making a call. “We think he was making a call for help after Donohue shot the girlfriend,” Herman tells me.

According to neighbors, a string of firecrackers rang out at about four in the morning. The bar was closed. Shortly after the noise stopped, neighbors, drawn to their windows, see Donohue and a man identified as Ray Tobin exit the closed bar. In a matter of minutes, the police swarm in. There are no witnesses, just four people in a bar. Tw o wound up dead, and two walked out. Who did it?

“We know Donohue did it. We just can't prove it,” Herman closes up the file, handing it to me.

“What about Tobin?” I ask.

“We tried to interview him. He told us to screw off. So we threatened to put him in the grand jury. He threatened to take the Fifth. We threatened to give him immunity. Then he threatened to testify that he did the shooting.”

Check and mate. The office, appalled at the thought of putting an immunized, confessing Tobin before a grand jury, backed off. That is why Tobin and Donohue still walk the streets. I leave Herman's office with the file and instructions to do something about it.

The first is to pull everything we know about Donohue together. That's easy. He's one of the last of the criminal gang known as the “Westies.” The ferocity of the Westies terrifies everyone, even mafia members who hire them as contract killers. The Westies are crazy. They kill without hesitation, anywhere, at any time. Witnesses or no witnesses. The famous Elmer “Trigger” Burke, for example, got into a fight in a bar on the West Side. He beat the man savagely. Finally, bartender Edward Walsh, a friend of Burke's, stopped Burke from kicking the helpless man to death as he lay on the floor. Burke, furious at his friend for siding against him, walked out of the bar, across the street to his apartment building, retrieved his gun from behind a toilet, walked back into the bar and repeatedly shot Walsh until he was dead, in front of everyone in the bar.

It is plain that Donohue's conduct was similar. He must have had an argument with his girlfriend. Shot her, then shot Hannigan who was calling for help. Then he walked out calmly with his pal Tobin.

I look up Donohue's record. It is substantial. One report of a prior Donohue arrest captures my attention. Donahue and a Greek mobster, Tommy “The Greek” Kapatos, were stopped by two officers in a patrol car who did not like the way the two looked. One officer got out of the car, searched Donohue, and found a gun in his pocket. Donohue said, “Okay, you got me. I give up.” The cop yelled to his partner, “Watch out, this guy has a gun!” His partner, who was searching Kapatos, yelled back, “Watch out yourself. This guy's got two guns!” The cop then continued to search Donohue and found another gun stuck in the small of Donohue's back. If that officer had stopped searching with the “okay you got me,” there would have been two dead cops.

But the stop-and-frisk came to nothing. There was no probable cause for the searches. All four guns were suppressed, and both men walked free. And I have a bunch of homicides with only one clue. A man named Tobin.

I call in the two detectives assigned to the Castilian Room murders. The Manhattan North homicide detective is Walter Curtaine, a tall, elegant, white-haired veteran of more than twenty-five years, going back even before Dewey's time. The 16th Precinct detective is Jack Justy, soft-spoken, highly educated, in his mid-forties, with a reputation as the best detective on the force. The department has put its very best on to Donohue. We meet in Room 603, my office on the sixth floor. I have made my decision: I am going to call Ray Tobin's bluff. I ask the detectives to find him.

They bring him in. He's a fat, sloppy, red-faced son of the owner of a bar on the Upper East Side, Tobin's East. This guy is no mobster, just a hanger-on. A small fish in a big body riding on the back of a shark. He couldn't kill anyone, much less two people in less than thirty seconds. I never had a doubt about what happened in the Castilian Room at 4:00 a.m. Seeing Tobin does not create any.

I tell him he is going in to the grand jury. He gives me the same routine about confessing to the murders. In New York a witness gets immunity automatically, unless he waives his rights. So he thinks he will scare me off. But I have a plan. I intend to ask him just one question, “On the night of September 22, did you have a gun in your hand?” If the answer is “yes,” he will be taken from the grand jury as fast as I can get him out. All he will have is immunity for gun possession, not murder. If the answer is “no,” we are off to the races.

So in he goes. When he comes out, I tell Curtaine and Justy that his answer is “no,” he had no gun. I sit him down with the detectives. He tells his story that the two people were alive when he and Donohue left. “They must have been killed later,” he says.

I can ask the grand jury to indict him for perjury, but that will get me no place. But I have a fallback plan. I make an application to the court that, in light of his grand jury testimony, he should be held as a material witness. The judge slaps a $100,000 bond on him, which he can't make. The street knows he was called to testify before the grand jury. I hope the word on the street is that Tobin is talking. Perhaps fear of Donohue's reaction will motivate him. It's all legal. He is a material witness and he did testify before the grand jury. I know that I am fighting fire with fire, but I have five dead bodies. I do not want to have to wait for a sixth.

While I wait, hoping that Tobin will crack, I take my turn every week at catching homicides. Most of them seem to happen after midnight, and many of them are the result of domestic disputes. The sight of a police car coming to collect me in the wee hours in front of my walk-up at 46 West 76th Street becomes a regular event.

Because I am still new, my inventory of cases is light. With time on my hands, I spend some going to courtrooms to watch the senior assistants try cases. It is a way to learn. The days pass. Then nearly two weeks go by. Tobin still has not talked. I have him brought out of the holding facility and to my office. Other than losing some weight, nothing has changed. He still isn't talking. So back in he goes. I know this can't go on forever. But as it turns out it doesn't have to. A few days later, on the evening of September 24, 1964, we get the anticipated sixth body.

At 3:00 a.m. on the twenty-fifth, my telephone startles me conscious. Justy and Curtaine are on the line. “We've got him now,” Jack yells into the phone.

“Who we got?” I ask groggily.

“Donohue,” Jack laughs, and fills me in on the events of last night.

Donohue, driving south on Fifth Avenue in a stolen car with his buddy Lawrence Krebs sitting in the passenger seat, turns right at a light at the 79th Street transverse road through Central Park. He is heading for the west side. As he turns the vehicle, he has an argument with Krebs. While driving, Donohue shoots Krebs twice in the head. This action causes Donohue to lose control of the car, which crashes, banging and scraping against the transverse road's wall on the passenger side of the car. It finally stops. The car is immobilized. As the dust and smoke settle, Donohue calmly exits the driver's side and strolls back up the transverse road to Fifth Avenue, where he made his turn. As he does, he walks past the driver's side of a taxicab waiting at a light to exit the transverse onto Fifth Avenue. There are two people in the back seat of the cab. When Donohue reaches Fifth Avenue, he makes two throwing motions.

The police arrive at the car wreck and find Krebs's dead body in the passenger seat. The cab and the passengers have remained at the scene. The uniforms call the detectives, who quickly ascertain that the car is stolen. In the trunk they find skeleton keys and empty burlap sacks. They get the names of the people in the taxi, but they still do not know the name of the victim, much less the driver who is obviously the murderer. Examination of the body reveals the victim is Lawrence Krebs. The examination of the contents of the trunk reveals that the two men were traveling to commit a crime. Within hours they learn that Krebs is, or rather was, a pal of Donohue's.

The lab people show up. They dust the car for prints. Behind the rear-view mirror they find a fingerprint. It belongs to Joseph Donohue. Further investigation by the detectives establishes that Krebs and Donohue were close friends. A matter of hours after the body is identified, my telephone rings. Justy, Curtaine and I are back in business.

Two days later Curtaine and Justy come to my office. They have the gun, an automatic, and also the clip—the two items that Donohue tossed one after another into the bushes as he strolled away from the body of his latest victim. There are no fingerprints, but they do have the name of a woman, an English woman, who saw a man make two throwing gestures towards the bushes as he walked away from the crash.
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“Herbert . Stern—prosecutor, judge, advocate—is a legend in American

- Law, and this extraordinary memoir tells the story of ow be bécame one.” Rt
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